UNIVERSITY LIBRARIES

UNLV Theses, Dissertations, Professional Papers, and Capstones

5-1-2024

Characterization of Fibronectin Adhesion Isolated Dental Pulp Progenitor Cell Populations

Heoijin Kim

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalscholarship.unlv.edu/thesesdissertations

Part of the Biology Commons, and the Dentistry Commons

Repository Citation

Kim, Heoijin, "Characterization of Fibronectin Adhesion Isolated Dental Pulp Progenitor Cell Populations" (2024). UNLV Theses, Dissertations, Professional Papers, and Capstones. 5022. http://dx.doi.org/10.34917/37650846

This Thesis is protected by copyright and/or related rights. It has been brought to you by Digital Scholarship@UNLV with permission from the rights-holder(s). You are free to use this Thesis in any way that is permitted by the copyright and related rights legislation that applies to your use. For other uses you need to obtain permission from the rights-holder(s) directly, unless additional rights are indicated by a Creative Commons license in the record and/ or on the work itself.

This Thesis has been accepted for inclusion in UNLV Theses, Dissertations, Professional Papers, and Capstones by an authorized administrator of Digital Scholarship@UNLV. For more information, please contact digitalscholarship@unlv.edu.

CHARACTERIZATION OF FIBRONECTIN ADHESION ISOLATED DENTAL PULP

PROGENITOR CELL POPULATIONS

By

Heoijin Kim

Bachelors of Science – Human Biology, Health and Society Cornell University 2012

Doctorate of Dental Surgery New York University College of Dentistry 2021

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the

Master of Science - Oral Biology

School of Dental Medicine Division of Health Sciences The Graduate College

University of Nevada, Las Vegas May 2024 Copyright by Heoijin Kim, 2024

All Rights Reserved



Thesis Approval

The Graduate College The University of Nevada, Las Vegas

March 3, 2024

This thesis prepared by

Heoijin Kim

entitled

Characterization of Fibronectin Adhesion Isolated Dental Pulp Progenitor Cell Populations

is approved in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science - Oral Biology School of Dental Medicine

John Colombo, Ph.D. Examination Committee Chair

Charles Hill, D.M.D. Examination Committee Member

Brian Chrzan, Ph.D. Examination Committee Member

Courtney Coughenour, Ph.D. Graduate College Faculty Representative Alyssa Crittenden, Ph.D. Vice Provost for Graduate Education & Dean of the Graduate College Abstract

CHARACTERIZATION OF FIBRONECTIN ADHESION ISOLATED DENTAL PULP PROGENITOR CELL POPULATIONS

By

Heoijin Kim

Dr. John Colombo, Advisory Committee Chair Associate Professor of Biomedical Sciences University of Nevada, Las Vegas School of Dental Medicine

Background: The DPSC constitutes a significantly small population, comprising approximately 1% of the total cells in the pulp tissue. Therefore, it is imperative to successfully culture and populate DPSCs in vitro before utilizing them for therapeutic purposes. Understanding DPSC heterogeneity is crucial for innovative regenerative therapies, prompting the investigation of mixed populations using fibronectin as a biological marker. It is reported that cellular phenotype and biological function may undergo alterations as cells replicate in a cultured environment or the substrate to which the cells adhere.

Objectives: In this study, we compared and analyzed the impact of various isolation methods on the expansion, diversity, and variability in the expression of mesenchymal cell surface markers of DPSCs as well as the cellular expression during osteodifferentiation. The study aims to examine the relationship between fibronectin adherent, fibronectin non-adherent, and explant DPSC populations in terms of mesenchymal cell surface markers and mineralizing lineage differentiation potential. Identifying markers that consistently and specifically represent distinct subtypes of DPSCs within mixed populations will streamline direct purification and will help us to give more insight into DPSC heterogeneity.

Methods: Two distinct sets of dental pulp stem cells (DPSC) were derived from separate donors using enzymatic digestion or explant outgrowth methods. The experiments were replicated for each set. DPSC underwent a selection process with fibronectin coating on plates, resulting in two variables: fibronectin-adherent cells and non-adherent cells. DPSCs went through passages, population doublings were calculated, and the proliferation rate was evaluated. Flow cytometric analysis was conducted to assess mesenchymal cell surface marker expression for each group. After treatment with osteogenic differentiation media, DPSCs' total RNA was extracted. A cDNA library was generated using RT-PCR, and qPCR assessed gene expression related to the mineralization lineage pathway.

Results: The DPSCs isolated through fibronectin adhesion had greater cell growth than those without selection (P-value <0.05). Flow cytometry analysis of DPSCs from various donors, including HADAN II and HADAN III, demonstrated comparable percentages of quadruplicate positive cells cell surface markers and negative markers in both fibronectin-adherent and non-fibronectin cells. HADAN II exhibited reduced osteopontin (OPN) expression levels and elevated osteocalcin (OCN) expression levels (P-value <0.05). Conversely, both the HADAN III

iv

fibronectin-adherent isolate and non-adherent isolates displayed increased OPN expression, with no significant difference in BGLAP mRNA expression levels. OPN is recognized as an early marker of mineralization pathways, while OCN is acknowledged as a later marker in the osteogenic process. The data suggests that DPSCs in HADAN III may be less differentiated than those in HADAN II after a 7-day of incubation in the osteogenic medium. While both types of isolates demonstrated osteodifferentiation capacity, the fibronectin-adherent isolate exhibited a higher level of osteogenic differentiation markers compared to non-adherent dental pulp progenitor cells.

Conclusion: While all isolates of dental pulp progenitor cells displayed similar proportions of mesenchymal stem cell markers, those selected through fibronectin exhibited an accelerated division rate and demonstrated potentially enhanced osteogenic potential across two donors. Our findings support fibronectin as a valuable selection tool capable of promoting MSC expansion and increased differentiation potential without compromising their stem cell characteristic. Nevertheless, it is essential to recognize the substantial individual variations in mesenchymal progenitor proportions, phenotype, and behavior. In addition, the inherent heterogeneity of human dental pulp stem cells (hDPSCs) presents a barrier to discerning the quality of stem cells solely through the examination of a single cellular marker. This challenge complicates the effective characterization and study of DPSCs.

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank Dr. John Colombo for his invaluable contribution to the development and execution of this study. His expertise and unwavering support have been instrumental in the successful completion of my research. I would like to express my sincere gratitude to our research lab manager, Shelley Williams, whose guidance, support, and assistance were integral to every experiment and statistical analysis, often extending late into the night. Shelley's untiring dedication has been fundamental to the success of my research endeavors. I extend my gratitude to my esteemed committee members, Dr. Brian Chrzan and Dr. Charles Hill. Their time and support in giving constructive feedback significantly contributed to the refinement of the manuscript.

I would like also to thank my orthodontic faculty members: Dr. Charles Hill, Dr. Brian Chrzan, Dr. Tanya Al-Talib, Dr. Walter Babula, Dr. Pouya Momtaz, Dr. Mellissa Shotell, and Dr. Nadim Guirguis. I want to express my gratitude for the priceless knowledge and guidance you have provided me throughout my journey in orthodontics. Your clinical techniques and skills have been instrumental in shaping my professional development. I am truly grateful for the way you have instilled a lifelong curiosity and passion for orthodontics within me.

Finally, I want to thank my family for supporting me during a 30-year-long educational journey. The love and support I have received has been unending. I would not be here without you. As I embark on the next chapter into the working world, I am very excited to reciprocate the support you have provided. Lastly, I want to thank my partner Britton Hess and his family for always supporting us. Britton, thank you for believing in me and being my cheerleader. It is because of you that I was able to reach a significant milestone in my life. I am thrilled about the new adventure that awaits us in our next amazing city.

vi

Table of Contents

Abstractiii
Acknowledgmentsvi
List of Tablesix
List of Figuresx
Chapter 1: Introduction1
Chapter 2: Materials and Methodology10
2.1 Isolation of human Dental Pulp Cells10
2.2 Fibronectin selection
2.3. Sub-culturing of DPSC12
2.4 Flow cytometric surface marker expression analysis
2.5 Incubation in inductive media14
2.6 RNA isolation
2.7 RT-PCR amplification for cDNA library15
2.8 Gene expression analysis via qPCR15
2.9 Statistical Analysis17
Chapter 3: Results
3.1 Cumulative Population Doublings18
3.2 Immunophenotypic Characterization of Dental Pulp Stem Cells21
3.3 mRNA Expression of Osteodifferentiation Genes25
Chapter 4: Discussion
Chapter 5: Conclusion
Appendix40

References	41
Curriculum Vitae	50

List of Tables

Table 1	Assay ID for each gene primer	16
Table 2	% Gated for individual MSC cell surface markers for each isolate	24

List of Figures

Figure 1	HADAN II Total Population Doublings	18
Figure 2	HADAN III Total Population Doublings	19
Figure 3	Flow Cytometry Results for HADAN II	21
Figure 4	Flow Cytometry Results for HADAN III	22
Figure 5	HADAN II fibronectin adherent (FA) DPSC Isolate	25
Figure 6	HADAN II Non-fibronectin adherent (NA) DPSC Isolate	26
Figure 7	HADAN III fibronectin adherent (FA) DPSC Isolate	27
Figure 8	HADAN III Non-fibronectin adherent (NA) DPSC Isolate	28
Figure 9	HADAN III Explant DPSC Isolate	29

Chapter 1: Introduction

Background and Significance

Stem cells are undifferentiated cells that exhibit self-renewal and multi-lineage differentiation capacity and have long-term proliferative potential (Amit et al., 2000). They can be induced to differentiate into various cell types with distinct functions when exposed to specific stimuli, such as growth factors in specific media (Chen, Reuveny, & Oh, 2013). Stem cells can be categorized into embryonic pluripotent stem cells and adult stem cells, which are known as tissue-specific stem cells. Adult stem cells are undifferentiated cells located within the specialized tissues of our bodies after development. These cells enable the healing, growth, and replacement of injured or dead tissue at the parental site (Chen, Reuveny, & Oh, 2013; Zakrzewski, Dobrzyński, Szymonowicz, & Rybak, 2019). Adult stem cells are frequently investigated for regenerative medicine and tissue repair, and they are less controversial than embryonic stem cells, primarily because they raise fewer ethical concerns.

Adult stem cells can be broadly categorized into mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) and hematopoietic stem cells. While hematopoietic stem cells differentiate into white blood cells, red blood cells, and platelets, mesenchymal stem cells can generate various cell types generally associated with connective tissue, including epithelial, skeletal, glial, adipocytes, fibroblasts, osteoblasts, and chondrocytes (Oh & Choo, 2011). Bone marrow serves as the main source of mesenchymal stem cells, but a more accessible alternative involves extracting them from teeth, commonly referred to as dental pulp stem cells. Dental pulp stem cells (DPSCs) are a type of mesenchymal stem cell that can be isolated from the dental pulp cavity of permanent or primary dentition. These cells are noteworthy due to their multipotential to differentiate into various cell types, such as odontoblasts, adipocytes, myocyte, and neural-like cells; and have similar regenerative properties to bone marrow-derived MSCs (Huang, G. T. -J, Gronthos, & Shi, 2009) (Kok et al., 2022). In fact, proliferation rates of DPSCs have been demonstrated to exceed that of bone-marrow derived MSCs (Shi, Robey, & Gronthos, 2001). Dental pulp stem cells (DPSCs), usually extracted from wisdom teeth, generally exhibit a less mature phenotype when compared to mesenchymal stem cells derived from bone marrow. This disparity in maturation is attributed to variations in developmental stages, resulting in distinct proliferation rates across different sources (Rola Mortada, Mortada, Mortada Beirut, & Lebanon, 2018a; Shi, Robey, & Gronthos, 2001). For all these reasons, DPSCs emerge as an excellent resource for studying MSCs.

Dental Pulp Stem Cells

Cellular and molecular markers are utilized to characterize MSCs and gain insights into their distinctive phenotypes. DPSCs meet the basic criteria for being classified as MSCs according to the Mesenchymal and Tissue Stem Cell Committee of the International Society for Cell and Gene Therapy (ISCT): they positively express markers associated with MSCs such as CD73 (ecto-5'-nucleotidase), CD90 (Thy-1), CD 44 (HCAM) and CD105 (endoglin) and do not express CD34 (hematopoietic marker), CD45 ((leukocyte common antigen), or CD 14 (monocyte marker) (Yamada et al., 2010)(Al Madhoun et al., 2021). The factors that contribute to the appeal of DPSCs include their ease of extraction from discarded teeth, marginal ethical concerns regarding procurement, and the ability of cryopreserved DPSCs to retain their potential for differentiation into multiple lineages (Xuan et al., 2018). DPSCs can serve as valuable resources for studying their embryonic origin, and biological characteristics during pre-clinical and clinical applications. Their accessibility, along with their ability to differentiate into different cell lineages, makes them valuable for potential therapeutic use. The tooth's capacity to produce reparative dentin after injury stands as evidence that resident stem cell populations within the dental pulp fulfill a natural therapeutic function within the tooth complex(Sui et al., 2020). Due to their versatile nature, DPSCs are considered a promising source of adult stem cells for regenerative medicine and tissue engineering applications.

Isolation

In 2000, Gronthos et al. were the pioneers in identifying and describing dental pulp stem cells (DPSCs) (Gronthos, Mankani, Brahim, Robey, & Shi, 2000). Subsequent studies by various researchers have delved into the isolation, characterization, differentiation, and preservation of DPSCs. MSCs in the bone marrow constitute an extremely rare population, ranging from 0.01% to 0.001% (Friedenstein, Latzinik, Grosheva, & Gorskava, 1982). The DPSC population is very small as well, constituting around 1% of the total cells in the pulp tissue (Raoof et al., 2014a). Therefore, it is imperative to successfully culture and populate DPSC in vitro before utilizing them for therapeutic purposes. Though there remains much to be understood regarding DPSCs, it is observed that DPSCs consist of progenitor cells distinguished by various features, including clonal heterogeneity, the ability to differentiate into multiple lineages, and phenotypic complexity (Kok et al., 2022). Research has demonstrated that the conditions and components of the media employed can induce potential phenotypic and functional alterations in freshly extracted DPSCs (Al Madhoun et al., 2021). Additionally, the procedures for isolating these cells may impact their heterogeneity (Rodas-Junco & Villicaña, 2017). Two commonly utilized approaches for cultivating dental pulp stem cells include the enzyme digestion method and the explant outgrowth method. Raoof et al. and Bronckaers et al. has shown that, while isolating DPSCs through

enzymatic digestion yields a substantial number of cells at a low passage rate, using tissue explants allows for the isolation of a more homogeneous cell population (Bronckaers et al., 2013) (Raoof et al., 2014b). Moreover, Raoof *et al.* and Huang *et al.* revealed that cells isolated through enzyme digestion exhibited a higher rate of proliferation compared to those isolated using the explant outgrowth method (Raoof et al., 2014b) (Huang, George T. -J, Sonoyama, Chen, & Park, 2006). In this study, we compare and analyze the impact of various isolation methods on the expansion, diversity, and variability in the expression of mesenchymal cell surface markers of DPSCs and well as their capacity for osteodifferentiation.

Selection

Understanding the diverse biological traits of DPSCs is essential for creating strategies to utilize them in innovative therapies for tissue regeneration in clinical applications, considering their well-known heterogeneity. An effective approach to categorizing cellular diversity is by selecting them based on their cell adhesion molecules. The expression of mesenchymal cell surface markers is related to various factors, such as the stem cell niche and the substrate to which cells adhere. An established method for isolating progenitor populations entails employing differential adhesion to fibronectin. Fibronectin is a key extracellular matrix protein that can impact cell behavior and phenotype (Zhu, Safavi, & Spangberg, 1998). Attachment of cells to the fibronectin matrix takes place through the interaction between the cell-binding domain of fibronectin and the integrin receptor on the cell surface, specifically the alpha-5/beta-integrin type in human DPSCs, triggering intracellular signaling pathways that can influence cell phenotype. (Zhu, Safavi, & Spangberg, 1998). This interaction between fibronectin and integrin receptors can activate intracellular mechanisms that facilitate odontoblast differentiation and the initiation of reparative dentinogenesis when pulp cells respond to calcium hydroxide (Yoshiba, Yoshiba, Nakamura, Iwaku, & Ozawa, 1996) (Tziafas, Panagiotakopoulos, & Komnenou, 1995). Earlier studies have employed this technique to isolate multipotent progenitors from both skin and bone marrow (D'Ippolito et al., 2004) (Jones & Watt, 1993). However, isolation of DPSCs populations based on differential adhesion to fibronectin is much less well studied. In a recent study, progenitor cells derived from articular cartilage and isolated through fibronectin adhesion were observed to express MSC cell surface markers (such as CD90, CD105, and Notch), exhibit increased telomerase activity, possess a high proliferation capacity, and demonstrate multilineage differentiation potential (Korpershoek et al., 2021; Williams et al., 2010).

Differentiation

DPSCs can undergo transcriptional changes and transition to committed precursor cells during a more limited developmental stage presenting distinct phenotypes (Liu, Zhou, & Liu, 2016). The transformation of DPSCs into specific mature cell types, like osteocytes, is a regulated process by special chemical signals, growth factors, cytokines, and elements of the extracellular matrix (ECM) (Jaiswal, Haynesworth, Caplan, & Bruder, 1997). While there is currently no singular marker for identifying mineralizing lineage pathways in DPSCs, various expression markers have been explored to examine the osteodifferentiation process. The osteodifferentiation specific markers include Runx2 and osteopontin (OPN), osteocalcin (OCN), Runx2. These markers are related to differentiation into osteoblast-like cells that generate a mineralized matrix (Nakamura et al., 2009) (Saygin, Giannobile, & Somerman, 2000).

Runx2 (Runt-related transcription factor 2) is a master transcription factor that encodes a nuclear protein with a Runt DNA-binding domain, and it is involved in the formation of bone and

teeth (Kim, Shin, Kim, Kim, & Ryoo, 2020). As a transcription factor, Runx2 regulates the expression of various genes involved in osteoblast differentiation, extracellular matrix formation, and mineralization. It is essential for the development of skeletal tissues and is considered a central player in the process of osteogenesis. The high expression of Runx2 mRNA takes place in preosteoblasts, committed to osteogenesis at the osteogenic fronts and developing membranous parietal bones during the initial stages of the embryonic period (Kim, Shin, Kim, Kim, & Ryoo, 2020). Osteocalcin (OCN) is a non-collagenous protein that is most abundant in mineralized extracellular matrix and is required during osteogenic maturation (Tsao et al., 2017). It is typically present in both bone and dentin and plays a role in the mineralization of hard tissues (Rola Mortada, Mortada, Mortada Beirut, & Lebanon, 2018b). Its synthesis is limited to cells involved in mineralization, such as osteoblasts, odontoblasts, and cementoblasts (Sun, Wu, Dai, Chang, & Tang, 2006). Bakopoulou et al showed notable elevation in the expression of OCN in DPSCs subjected to osteoinductive stimuli (Bakopoulou et al., 2011). Osteopontin (OPN) is another bone matrix protein that is upregulated during osteogenic differentiation. The detailed function of OPN is still unclear; however, it is believed to be essential for the process of mineralization and the repair of mineralized tissue. (Rola Mortada, Mortada, Mortada Beirut, & Lebanon, 2018b). Additionally, it plays a role in cellular division, chemotaxis, migration, adhesion (Faccio et al., 1998), cytodifferentiation of osteoclasts, and intracellular signaling (Miyauchi et al., 1991)all of which are crucial for the generation of a new set of odontoblasts. BGLAP (Bone Gamma-Carboxyglutamate Protein) is a gene responsible for producing OCN protein. SPP1 (Secreted Phosphoprotein 1) is a gene responsible for producing OPN protein.

These three molecular markers provide insight into the differentiation potential and functional characteristics of MSCs. The expression levels of these markers may vary depending on the selected culture conditions of MSCs. Selecting cells based on specific cell adhesion molecules, particularly fibronectin receptors, may activate intracellular signaling pathways, influencing the cell phenotype and resulting in distinct expression patterns of certain molecular markers (Korpershoek et al., 2021) (Williams et al., 2010). In this study, we explore the relationship between fibronectin adherent and non-adherent isolates in terms of mesenchymal cell surface markers and their potential for differentiation along a mineralizing lineage pathway. After placing DPSCs into osteogenic medium, we analyzed the mRNA expression of *BGLAP, SPP1*, and *RUNX2* using reverse transcriptase-PCR and quantification PCR.

Rationale and Objective:

This study aims to isolate and analyze mixed populations of DPSCs originating from specific subtypes. By employing the specific biological marker fibronectin, the goal is to study different expression patterns of certain cell surface markers and molecular markers and selectively acquire more precise subgroups tailored for applications in regenerative medicine.

DPSCs constitute a relatively small population, comprising approximately 1% of the total cells in the pulp tissue. Therefore, it is imperative to successfully isolate, and culture refined populations of DPSCs in vitro before utilizing them for therapeutic purposes. Understanding DPSC heterogeneity is crucial for innovative regenerative therapies, prompting the investigation of mixed populations using fibronectin as a selection tool. It is reported that cellular phenotype and biological function may undergo alterations as cells replicate in a cultured environment or the substrate to which the cells adhere.

Here, we compared and analyzed the impact of various isolation methods on the expansion, diversity, and variability in the expression of mesenchymal cell surface markers of DPSCs as well as the cellular expression during osteodifferentiation. The study aims to examine the relationship between fibronectin adherent, nonadherent, and explant DPSC populations in terms of mesenchymal cell surface markers and mineralizing lineage differentiation potential. Identifying markers that consistently and specifically represent distinct subtypes of DPSCs within mixed populations will streamline direct purification and will help us to give more insight into DPSC heterogeneity.

Research Questions

1. Does the fibronectin adherent cell population exhibit a faster growth rate compared to the nonadherent cell population?

o Null hypothesis (H0): Fibronectin adherent cell population grow at the same rate as the nonadherent cell population

o Alternative hypothesis (HA): Fibronectin adherent cell population grow faster than the nonadherent cell population

2. Do cells adherent to fibronectin display distinct expression patterns of mesenchymal cell surface markers compared to those in non-adherent cell populations?

o Null hypothesis (H0): Cells adherent to fibronectin display patterns of mesenchymal cell surface markers similar to those in non-adherent cell populations

o Alternative hypothesis (HA): Cells adherent to fibronectin display distinct expression patterns of mesenchymal cell surface markers compared to those in non-adherent cell populations 3. Do cells adherent to fibronectin exhibit greater osteogenic potential compared to those in nonadherent cell populations?

o Null hypothesis (H0): Cells adherent to fibronectin exhibit similar osteogenic potential compared to those in non-adherent cell populations

o Alternative hypothesis (HA): Cells adherent to fibronectin exhibit greater osteogenic potential compared to those in non-adherent cell populations

Chapter 2: Materials and Methodology

2.1 Isolation of human Dental Pulp Cells

Dental pulp tissues were harvested from normal, mature, and noncarious permanent teeth at the Dental clinic of the University of Nevada Las Vegas School of Dental Medicine. The teeth were extracted as part of regular operative procedures, and the information of the donor such as the age and health status were kept undisclosed to both the sample collectors and the investigators. The extracted teeth were considered biowaste; therefore, informed consent was not specifically required, however patients signed a consent to treatment form which makes them aware that their waste tissue may be used for research or teaching purposes. The study proposal was approved by UNLV Institutional Review Board before data collection for a study involving human subjects. The approval was based on an appropriate risk/benefit ratio and a protocol design in which the risks have been minimized.

Teeth (n=8) from two donors were used for the experiments, with the DPSC derived from the first donor designated as HADAN II, and those from the second donor referred to as HADAN III. The teeth consisted of a mix of premolars and third molars. Notably, one tooth from the second donor featured entirely intact pulp tissues, permitting an explant to be used as an additional aspect of the experiment.

The extracted teeth were placed into the α -MEM media (GibcoTM Modified Essential Medium α (1x) + GlutaMAX TM with 10% v/v FBS, 1% L-ascorbic acid, 1% v/v penicillin/streptomycin) and stored no more than 1 hour prior to pulp extraction. The majority of attached soft tissues were removed and discarded. Teeth were soaked in 70% ethanol for approximately 10 seconds. To expose the pulp chamber, 2mm grooves were made along the

cement-enamel junction using a rotary tool (*Dremel*®) while ensuring there was abundant irrigation with a saline solution, facilitating the subsequent sectioning process. Using this groove, the teeth were cracked open using a wafer tweezer, exposing the pulp chambers. The entire pulp tissues were collected using forceps or NiTi Endo Hand K-Files in the pulp canals and combined into the media. The pulps were finely shredded using a scalpel and treated with pre-warmed 4mg/ml collagenase/dispase and incubated at 37° C, 5% CO₂ for 1hr with intermittent shaking. The digested tissues were filtered through a 70mm cell strainer and washed with an additional 5-10mL serum containing α -MEM media. The filtered cells were centrifuged at 400 rpm for 5 min. Afterwards, the supernatant was discarded, and the cell pellet was suspended in a fresh culture medium. Centrifugation was repeated to ensure complete removal of collagenase/dispase. The cells were then resuspended in a serum-free medium for a cell isolation procedure. For the explant taken from the second donor (HADAN III), the intact pulp explant was placed directly in a plate well with the α -MEM media for 5 days and then removed. The remaining cells were retained in the well and were collected for subsequent experiments.

2.2 Fibronectin selection

For both donors, fibronectin at a concentration of 10 μ g/mL, derived from human plasma, was reconstituted in 0.1M PBS+ (PBS containing 1mM Ca²⁺ and 1mM Mg²⁺, pH 7.4). This suspension was used to precoat the base of 10cm² 6-well plates (Greiner Bio-One, UK) with 1 mL/well, kept at 4°C overnight. The plates were aspirated before adding cells. A single-cell suspension, resuspended in 1 mL serum-free medium, was seeded into the pre-coated wells at a density of 4x10³ cells/cm² for 20 minutes at 37°C 5% CO₂ incubator. Adherent cells were retained in the wells until confluent, constituting the fibronectin adherent (FA) populations. Any nonadherent cells were then collected and seeded into separate wells and cultured. These cells served as the Non-Adherent (NA) cell population used in subsequent experiments.

2.3. Sub-culturing of DPSC and calculating cumulative population doublings

Cell population doubling rates were recorded for Fibronectin Adherent (FA) and Nonfibronectin Adherent (NA) populations from both donors as well as cells isolated from the explant of the HADAN III donor. Daily observation of cell growth was conducted, with the medium refreshed every three days. When DPSCs reached 80% confluence sub-culturing was initiated. The cells were observed under a light microscope to monitor proliferation and estimate the confluency at the bottom of the flask. Upon confirming the desired confluency, cell media were removed and a thorough wash with 10 mL of sterile PBS followed, aimed at removing cell debris and any remnants of old media. Subsequently, 3 mL of Accutase (StemPro® Accutase®) was added and allowed to incubate for 3-5 minutes in a 37°C, 5% CO2 incubator. Confirmation of cell detachment was achieved through observation under a light microscope, after which 2 mL of α -MEM media was added. The cells were then collected and centrifuged at 900 rpm for 5 minutes. The supernatant was carefully removed, and the pellets were resuspended in 1000 μ L of α -MEM media. Cell count was done using a hemocytometer. The volume of the cell suspension required for reseeding into each flask was calculated using the following formula:

$$V_{f} = \frac{Ci}{C_{f}} x Vi$$

 V_f = volume of cell suspension for reseeding for passage n V_i = volume of cell suspension (1000 µL) C_i = initial cell number seeded at passage n-1 C_f = final cell yield cells counted at passage n A total of 8 to 14 passages were conducted for both HADAN II and HADAN III. Subculturing was concluded upon reaching senescence in the cells. For every passage, the date, the total number of cells counted, and the number of cells reseeded were recorded. The Total Population Doublings (PDt) was calculated based on the specified formula.

$$PDt = PDi + \frac{\log C_{f} - \log Ci}{\log 2}$$

 $PD_{t=}$ Total Population doubling level PD_{i} = initial population doubling level C_{i} = initial cell number seeded at passage n-1 C_{f} = final cell yield cells counted at passage n

The total population doublings mean the total number of times a population of cells doubled during cell culture. The correlation between cumulative PDL and the duration in days has been plotted in a line graph.

2.4 Flow cytometric surface marker expression analysis

Cells from the 4th passage for HADAN II and the 10th passage for HADAN III were utilized in the experiments. The antigen profiles of fibronectin adherent and non-adherent isolates from HADAN II and HADAN III and explant from HADAN III were analyzed by detecting the expression of the stem cell surface markers CD73, CD90, CD105, CD 44 using flow cytometry. This analysis adhered to the (ISCT) guidelines for identifying human MSCs. The kit used for this analysis (BD Biosciences[™]) included a panel recommended by the International Society for Cellular Therapy ISCT and was designed to identify MSCs expression of CD73, CD90, CD105, CD 44 and absence of CD34, CD45, CD11b, CD19, and HLA-DR.

Cells were harvested by treatment with BDTM AccutaseTM Cell Detachment Solution for 3 min, washed, and resuspended at 1x10^7 cells/ml in BD PharmingenTM Stain Buffer. The antibody tubes from the kit were prepared following the manufacturer's guidelines. Then,100 µl of the cell suspension was carefully added to each antibody or cocktail tube. Tubes were incubated in the dark for 30 minutes at room temperature. Cells were washed twice with BD PharmingenTM Stain Buffer (FBS) and resuspended in 500 µls of this same buffer. Cells were then analyzed using an Attune flow cytometer (ThermoFisherTM), with 20,000 events collected for each sample. Compensation settings were set using UltraCompTM compensation beads (Thermofisher) and antibodies conjugated with each fluorophore examined during experiments. Gating was performed on a forward scatter (FSC) and side scatter (SSC) to exclude debris and other outliers and subsequently gated on a FSC-H vs FSC-W plot to remove potential doublets.

2.5 Incubation in inductive media

Cells from the 4th passage for HADAN II and the 10th passage for HADAN III were utilized in the experiments. The passage to initiate experiments was chosen based on the relative stability and growth of cells from each donor as well as their number, as subsequent experiments required varying numbers of cells. The fibronectin-adherent and non-adherent isolates from both HADAN II and HADAN III, along with the explant variable from HADAN III, were incubated in MSC Osteogenic Differentiation Medium (PromoCell GmbH, Heidelberg, Germany) for 7 days. The same variables were also subjected to a basic medium, serving as the negative control.

2.6 RNA isolation

Total RNA was extracted from cells cultured in osteogenic differentiation media and the negative control, employing the RNeasy® mini-prep kit from Qiagen following the manufacturer's

guidelines. The quality and quantity (ng/µl) of the RNA were assessed using Thermo Scientific[™] NanoDrop[™] Spectrophotometers, evaluating absorbance ratio measurements at 260 and 280 nm (A260/A280 ratio). All samples exhibited ratios within the range of 1.92-2.06, indicating minimal protein contamination. Each experiment was conducted in triplicate and replicated for HADAN II and HADAN III.

2.7 RT-PCR amplification for cDNA synthesis

The cDNA synthesis process utilized the High-capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription Kit (Applied Biosystems). Total RNA concentration was adjusted to 0.5 µg in nuclease-free water per reaction. To create the cDNA master mix, precise quantities of 10x RT buffer, 25x dNTP Mix, 10X RT Random Primers, MultiScribe[™] Reverse Transcriptase, and nuclease-free water were mixed. The 30µl of the resulting master mix was then added to 30µl of RNA template into each PCR tube. The reverse transcriptase PCR amplification was performed by a GeneAmp PCR System 9700 Thermal Cycler (Applied Biosystems) under the following conditions: primers annealed at 25°C for 10 minutes, RNA reverse transcribed at 37°C for 120 minutes, enzyme inactivated at 85°C for 5 minutes, followed by a cooling step at 4°C. The cDNA library was stored in a -20°C freezer until it was ready for use.

2.8 Gene expression analysis via qPCR

For the quantification PCR experiment, TaqMan® Fast Advanced Master Mix was used (Applied Biosystems, USA). The TaqMan master mix was prepared for each gene of interest (RUNX2, BGLAP, SPP1) adding 2 x PCR Buffer, primers for housekeeping gene with probe (RPLPO_Vic¹), primers for a gene of interest with probe (GOI_Fam), and nuclease-free water. ¹The Applied Biosystems[™] Human RPLPO (large ribosomal protein with VIC probe) is intended

as an endogenous control. When combined with other gene expression assays, it enables the quantification of relative gene expression in cDNA samples. The 14 μ l of each gene specific master mix were transferred to the corresponding well of an optical 96-well plate. Then, 6 μ l of cDNA samples were transferred to each well. The negative control was generated by consolidating the remaining gene-specific master mix and dispensing 20 μ l into the designated wells. Additionally, 20 μ l of an internal positive control (IPC) was dispensed into the assigned well. Each experiment was conducted in triplicate and replicated for HADAN II and HADAN III.

The amplification was performed by the QuantStudio[™] 3 Real-Time PCR instrument (Applied Biosystems, Thermo Scientific[™], USA) following the thermal protocol and fast cycling mode with the following steps: enzyme activation at 95°C for 20 seconds followed by 40 cycles of denaturation at 95°C for 1 second and annealing-extension at 60 °C for 20 seconds. The designated assay ID from Thermo Fisher Scientific[™] for each gene primer is as follows:

Genes	Assay ID
BGLAP	Hs01587814_g1
SPP1	Hs00959010_m1
RUNX2	Hs01047973_m1
RPLPO_VIC	Hs00420895_gH

Table 1. Assay ID for each gene primer used from Thermo Fisher Scientific[™]

The Cycle Threshold (CT) mean for each untreated control and treatment group was derived using the QuantStudioTM 3. ΔCt was computed by subtracting the CT of the gene of interest

from the CT of RPLPO (housekeeping gene). Then $\Delta\Delta$ Ct was calculated as Δ Ct minus the average Δ Ct of the control group. The relative quantification (RQ) or mean fold change in expression, comparing control and treatment groups, was determined using the following formula:

$$RO = 2^{-(\Delta\Delta Ct)}$$

2.9 Statistical Analysis

The cumulative population doublings data for Dental Pulp Stem Cells (DPSCs) for HADAN II isolates (fibronectin adherent vs non-fibronectin adherent populations) were compared using a paired T-test, with statistical significance set at p < 0.05. For HADAN III isolates, the cumulative population doublings for fibronectin adherent, non-fibronectin adherent, and explant-derived populations were compared using a repeated measures ANOVA analysis, with statistical significance set at p < 0.05. Repeated Measures ANOVA and Paired T-Tests were performed using GraphPad Prism Software.

For the q-PCR analyses, all assays were conducted in two independent experiments (n = 2), each comprising three replicates. The standard error of the mean (SEM) of the RQ was calculated. The SEM approaching zero suggests that the estimated value is nearly identical to the true value. The Mann-Whitney U Test (two-tail T-test) analysis was employed to assess the significance of relative expression between the untreated control group and the treated group, with significance assumed for p < 0.05.

3.1 Cumulative Population Doublings Level



Figure 1. The graph illustrates the correlation between the cumulative Population Doublings (PDs) over time for HADAN II (fibronectin adherent isolate and non-fibronectin adherent isolate). Each data point represents a passage. Cell counts were performed in quadruplicate. Paired T Test: Between Groups P=.0036, demonstrates significantly different cumulative population doublings between the two groups over time.



HADAN II Total Population Doublings in Fibronectin Adherent Isolate vs Non-Fibronectin Adherent Isolate vs Explant

Figure 2. The graph illustrates the correlation between the cumulative Population Doublings(PDs) and the duration in days for HADAN III (fibronectin adherent isolate, nonfibronectin adherent isolate, and explant population). Each data point represents a passage. Paired T Test: Between Groups P=.0001, demonstrates significantly different cumulative population doublings over time.

The population doubling (PDs) is the cumulative number of times a cell population doubles during cell culture. The two experimental groups of HADAN II completed a total of 8 passages within 31-32 days. The three experimental groups of HADAN III completed a total of 12–13 passages within 72–81 days. (**Figure 1**) shows the two HADAN II groups demonstrating an increase in population in a comparable pattern. The non-fibronectin adherent group displayed the

steepest increase in population doublings (PDs) between passages 3-4 and 5-6, while the fibronectin adherent group showed the highest increase in PDs at passages 3-4. It also shows fibronectin adherent isolate consistently maintains a higher PD rate than the non-fibronectin adherent isolate across all passages. The comparison of cumulative HANDAN II PDs between the two isolates using a paired T-test reveals statistically significant differences in population doublings between groups, evidenced by a P-value of.0036.

In (Figure 2), the three HADAN III groups illustrate a similar, sigmoidal growth pattern, characterized by an increase in cell culture at the initial stages, followed by a steady population growth over time. This indicates that the rate of population doublings is most rapid at the outset, gradually slowing down after reaching its peak. This growth curve is observed consistently across all three isolates-fibronectin adherent, non-fibronectin adherent, and explant-displaying a similar growth trajectory. Explant showed the highest population doublings from passage 0-6. After passage 6 (beyond 40 days), the fibronectin adherent isolate surpassed the growth of the explant cells, consistently maintaining the highest population throughout the subsequent days. Throughout the experiment, the fibronectin isolated DPSC always had higher population doublings than the NA isolate. All isolates exhibited the most significant increase in Population Doublings between passages 5-6. Additionally, the explant-derived cell doubling rate began to plateau slightly earlier than the other two groups. The termination of passaging occurred when there were no discernible signs of cell growth. The examination of cumulative HANDAN III PD numbers through repeated measures ANOVA demonstrates significant differences in the cumulative population doublings between groups, demonstrated by a P-value of .0001.

3.2 Immunophenotypic Characterization of Dental Pulp Stem Cells



Flow Cytometry Results for HADAN II

Fig. 3 – (**a**–**d**). Flow cytometric analysis of mesenchymal cell surface marker expression on populations isolated from HADAN II. Cells are displayed on a forward scatter vs side scatter plot. **a**) shows the % and distribution of the quadruplicate positive cells labeled in green for the NA population **b**) shows the distribution of the total population of gated cells (red) with the quadruplicate labeled cells superimposed (green) for the NA population **c**) shows the % and distribution of gated cells (red) with the quadruplicate positive cells labeled in green for the FA population **d**) shows the distribution of gated cells (red) with the quadruplicate positive cells labeled in green for the FA population **d**) shows the distribution of the total population of gated cells (red) with the quadruplicate labeled cells superimposed (green) for the FA population **d**) shows the distribution of the total population of gated cells (red) with the quadruplicate labeled cells superimposed (green) for the FA population



Flow Cytometry Results for HADAN III

Fig. 4 – (**a**–**f**). Flow cytometric analysis of mesenchymal cell surface marker expression on populations isolated from HADAN III. Cells are displayed on a forward scatter vs side scatter plot. **a**) shows the % and distribution of the quadruplicate positive cells labeled in green for the NA population **b**) shows the distribution of the total population of gated cells (red) with the quadruplicate labeled cells superimposed (green) for the NA population **c**) shows the % and distribution of gated cells (red) with the quadruplicate positive cells labeled in green for the FA population **d**) shows the distribution of gated cells (red) with the quadruplicate labeled cells superimposed (green) for the FA population. **e**) shows the % and distribution of the quadruplicate positive cells labeled in green for the explant population of the quadruplicate positive cells labeled in green for the quadruplicate labeled cells (red) with the quadruplicate labeled cells (green) for the FA population. **e**) shows the % and distribution of the total population of gated cells (red) with the quadruplicate positive cells labeled in green for the explant population. f) shows the distribution of the total population of gated cells (red) with the quadruplicate labeled cells superimposed (green) for the explant population.

As illustrated in (**Figure 3**), the flow cytometry analysis of HADAN II revealed that the non-fibronectin adherent (NA) population had 21.94% total gated cells and of those gated cells, 7.12% were quadruplicate positive cells (having a simultaneous expression of CD90, CD44, CD105, CD73). The fibronectin adherent (FA) population of HADAN II displayed 19.33% total gated cells and of those gated, 6.67% quadruplicate positive cells. These cells were also negatively controlled for CD45, CD34, CD11b, CD19, and HLA-DR expression.

In (**Figure 4**), the flow cytometry analysis of HADAN III indicated that the NA population exhibited 32.9% total gated cells, and of the gated cells, 3.7% were quadruplicate positive cells. The FA population of HADAN III showed 34.6% total gated cells with 4% quadruplicate positive cells from the gated cells. Fibronectin-isolated populations displayed slightly higher quadruplicate positive expression than the NA population in HADAN III. Explant-derived cells demonstrated comparable proportions of all gated cells (32.2%) and quadruplicate positive cells (3.8%) and to both NA and FA isolate groups.

(**Table 2**) presents the proportions of individual mesenchymal cell surface markers from DPSCs isolated from HADAN II and HADAN III (CD90, CD44, CD105, CD73). In HADAN II, the NA isolate exhibited slightly higher percentages of cells than the FA group in all cell surface markers except CD105, with the difference being relatively minor. HADAN III populations displayed comparable expression levels in both fibronectin-adherent and non-fibronectin-adherent groups. Cells derived from explants exhibited marginally elevated percentages of CD90, CD44, CD105, and CD73 expression, with a difference of less than 5%.

MSC Cell Surface Markers	HADAN II		HADAN III		
	Fibronectin Adherent	Nonfibronectin Adherent	Fibronectin Adherent	Nonfibronectin Adherent	Explant
CD90	60.3%	66.8%	28.4%	29.8%	36.5%
CD44	59.2%	61.2%	31.3%	33.3%	33.9%
CD105	36.7%	35.5%	12.6%	11.8%	13.6%
CD73	60%	64.9%	29.9%	31.6%	37.7%

 Table 2. % Gated for individual MSC cell surface markers for each isolate

3.3 mRNA Expression of Osteodifferentiation Genes



HADAN II fibronectin adherent (+F) DPSC Isolate

Fig. 5 – (a–c) Mean fold changes, or relative quantification (RQ), for the expression of the gene of interest following a 7-day exposure to osteogenic differentiation media. The HADAN II fibronectin adherent (+F) DPSC isolate was compared between the control and the osteogenic treatment groups (Osteo). The asterisk indicates statistically significant differences in gene expression between the untreated control and the Osteo-treated group (p < 0.05).

- a) For *RUNX2* gene in the fibronectin adherent control, the standard error of the mean (SEM) is 0.13, while the treatment group exhibits SEM of 0.08. The P-value for this comparison is 0.85408.
- b) For *SPP1* gene in the fibronectin adherent control, the standard error of the mean (SEM) is 0.168, while the treatment group exhibits SEM of 0.035. The P-value for this comparison is 0.0213, indicating a statistically significant difference.
- c) For *BGLAP* gene in the fibronectin adherent control, the standard error of the mean (SEM) is 0.256, while the treatment group exhibits SEM of 1.109. The P-value for this comparison is 0.0213, indicating a statistically significant difference.



HADAN II fibronectin non-adherent (-F) DPSC Isolate

Fig. 6 – (a–c) Mean fold changes, or relative quantification (RQ), for the expression of the gene of interest following a 7-day exposure to osteogenic differentiation media. The HADAN II Non-fibronectin adherent (- F) DPSC isolate was compared between the control and the osteogenic treatment groups (Osteo). The asterisk indicates statistically significant differences in gene expression between the untreated control and the Osteo-treated group (p < 0.05).

- a) For *RUNX2* gene in the fibronectin adherent control, the standard error of the mean (SEM) is 0.12, while the treatment group exhibits SEM of 0.08. The P-value for this comparison is 0.326.
- b) For *SPP1* gene in the fibronectin adherent control, the standard error of the mean (SEM) is 0.0556, while the treatment group exhibits SEM of 0.0475. The P-value for this comparison is 0.0213, indicating a statistically significant difference.
- c) For *BGLAP* gene in the fibronectin adherent control, the standard error of the mean (SEM) is 0.0258, while the treatment group exhibits SEM of 0.0658. The P-value for this comparison is 0.0213, indicating a statistically significant difference.



HADAN III fibronectin adherent (+F) DPSC Isolate

Fig. 7 – (a–c) Mean fold changes, or relative quantification (RQ), for the expression of the gene of interest following a 7-day exposure to osteogenic differentiation media. The HADAN III Fibronectin adherent (+F) DPSC isolate was compared between the control and the osteogenic treatment groups (Osteo). The asterisk indicates statistically significant differences in gene expression between the untreated control and the Osteo-treated group (p < 0.05).

- a) For *RUNX2* gene in the fibronectin adherent control, the standard error of the mean (SEM) is 0.13, while the treatment group exhibits SEM of 0.06. The P-value for this comparison is 0.326.
- b) For *SPP1* gene in the fibronectin adherent control, the standard error of the mean (SEM) is 0.0515, while the treatment group exhibits SEM of 0.7062. The P-value for this comparison is 0.0213, indicating a statistically significant difference.
- c) For *BGLAP* gene in the fibronectin adherent control, the standard error of the mean (SEM) is 0.13, while the treatment group exhibits SEM of 0.08. The P-value for this comparison is 0.1347, indicating a statistically significant difference.



HADAN III fibronectin non-adherent (-F) DPSC Isolate

Fig. 8 – (**a**–**c**) Mean fold changes, or relative quantification (RQ), for the expression of the gene of interest following a 7-day exposure to osteogenic differentiation media. The **HADAN III Non-fibronectin adherent** (-**F**) DPSC isolate was compared between the control and the osteogenic treatment groups (Osteo). The asterisk indicates statistically significant differences in gene expression between the untreated control and the Osteo-treated group (p < 0.05).

- a) For *RUNX2* gene in the fibronectin adherent control, the standard error of the mean (SEM) is 0.13, while the treatment group exhibits SEM of 0.06. The P-value for this comparison is 0.57339.
- b) For *SPP1* gene in the fibronectin adherent control, the standard error of the mean (SEM) is 0.0266, while the treatment group exhibits SEM of 0.2698. The P-value for this comparison is 0.0213, indicating a statistically significant difference.
- c) For *BGLAP* gene in the fibronectin adherent control, the standard error of the mean (SEM) is 0.11, while the treatment group exhibits SEM of 0.16. The P-value for this comparison is 0.1347.



HADAN III Explant DPSC Isolate

Fig. 9 – (a–c) Mean fold changes, or relative quantification (RQ), for the expression of the gene of interest following a 7-day exposure to osteogenic differentiation media. The HADAN III Explant DPSC was compared between the control and the osteogenic treatment groups (Osteo). The asterisk indicates statistically significant differences in gene expression between the untreated control and the Osteo-treated group (p < 0.05).

- a) For *RUNX2* gene in the fibronectin adherent control, the standard error of the mean (SEM) is 0.06, while the treatment group exhibits SEM of 0.12. The P-value for this comparison is 0.0213, indicating a statistically significant difference.
- b) For *SPP1* gene in the fibronectin adherent control, the standard error of the mean (SEM) is 0.152, while the treatment group exhibits SEM of 0.1935. The P-value for this comparison is 0.1347.
- c) For *BGLAP* gene in the fibronectin adherent control, the standard error of the mean (SEM) is 0.14, while the treatment group exhibits SEM of 0.03. The P-value for this comparison is 0.0213, indicating a statistically significant difference.

The HADAN II fibronectin-adherent (+F) DPSC isolate displayed no significant difference in *RUNX2* expression between the untreated control and treatment groups. The HADAN II fibronectin-adherent (+F) DPSC isolate showed a 42% reduction in *SPP1* expression in the osteogenic media treatment group compared to the untreated control group (P-value of 0.0213). There was an approximately 800% increase in *BGLAP* mRNA expression following osteogenic media treatment (P-value of 0.0213). The standard error of the mean for all groups in three genes ranged from 0.035 to 1.109, indicating that the calculated RQs closely align with the true values (**Figure 5 (a-c)**).

The HADAN II fibronectin non-adherent (-F) DPSC isolate displayed no significant difference in RUNX2 expression between the untreated control and treatment groups. The HADAN II fibronectin non-adherent (-F) DPSC isolate showed a 66% reduction in SPP1 mRNA expression in the osteogenic media treatment group compared to the untreated control group (P-value of 0.0213). There was an approximately 50% increase in BGLAP mRNA expression following osteogenic media treatment (P-value of 0.0213). The standard error of the mean for all groups in three genes ranged from 0.026 to 0.12, indicating that the calculated RQs closely align with the true values (Figure 6 (a-c)).

The HADAN III fibronectin adherent (+F) DPSC isolate displayed no significant difference in *RUNX2* and *BGLAP* expression between the untreated control and treatment groups. The HADAN III fibronectin adherent (+F) DPSC isolate displayed a 160% increase in *SPP1* mRNA expression in the osteogenic media treatment group compared to the untreated control group (P-value of 0.0213). The standard error of the mean for all groups in three genes ranged

from 0.06 to 0.706, indicating that the calculated RQs closely align with the true values (Figure 7 (a-c)).

The HADAN III fibronectin non-adherent (-F) DPSC displayed no significant difference in *RUNX2* and *BGLAP* expression between the untreated control and treatment groups. The HADAN III fibronectin non-adherent (-F) DPSC isolate displayed an 86% increase in *SPP1* mRNA expression in the osteogenic media treatment group compared to the untreated control group (P-value of 0.0213). The standard error of the mean for all groups in three genes ranged from 0.027 to 0.27, indicating that the calculated RQs closely align with the true values (**Figure 8** (**a-c**)).

The HADAN III explant DPSC isolate demonstrated *RUNX2* mRNA expression increased by 35% in the osteogenic media treatment group with a P-value of 0.0213. Although there was an increase in *SPP1* mRNA expression in the treatment group, it did not reach statistical significance (P-value 0.1347). There was an 82% reduction in *BGLAP* mRNA expression in the osteogenic media treatment group compared to the untreated control group (P-value of 0.0213). The standard error of the mean for all groups in three genes ranged from 0.03 to 0.19, indicating that the calculated (RQs) closely align with the true values (Figure 9 (a-c)).

Chapter 4: Discussion

The measurement most employed to assess cell culture growth rate is the population doubling time, representing the duration required for a cell population to double in size (Greenwood et al., 2004). In our study, we observed a notable difference in population doublings between dental pulp stem cells isolated through fibronectin selection and those not subjected to this process. The significant increase in population doublings was consistently observed in both HADAN II and HADAN III, despite different donor origins. This suggests that fibronectin isolation contributes to improved population growth, as evidenced by the consistent increase in population doubling over time—a direct reflection of population growth. These findings align with previous studies indicating that human MSCs isolated through fibronectin adhesion exhibit enhanced telomerase activity and possess a robust proliferation capacity (Korpershoek et al., 2021; Williams et al., 2010). This becomes a crucial consideration for harvesting ample quantities of human DPSC subpopulations, assessing, and developing them for clinical use. Moreover, the enhanced proliferative potential of fibronectin-adherent MSCs may be valuable for sustaining long-term tissue regeneration upon reinfusion (Kok et al., 2022).

In contrast to the findings of previous studies by Raoof et al. and Huang et al., which suggested that cells obtained through enzymatic digestion exhibited a higher proliferation rate compared to those isolated via the explant outgrowth method, our experiment yielded opposing results, at least initially. DPSCs from the explant outgrowth method demonstrated an increased population doubling, indicating a higher proliferation rate, but only during the earlier passages. Moreover, explant-derived DPSCs appeared to reach senescence earlier than those obtained through enzymatic digestion. However, it is important to acknowledge the limitation of the low sample size. Given the high level of individual variation between donors found here and by others, there remains much to be determined regarding enzymatic digestion vs explant derivation of DPSCs, even though both techniques yielded viable DPSC populations.

Regarding the phenotypic characterization of dental pulp progenitor cells, the expression of specific markers, such as CD90, CD73, CD105, and CD44, served as an indication of their mesenchymal stem cell phenotype under ISCT guidelines. All isolates displayed relatively low proportions of quadruplicate positive cells, aligning with the understanding that DPSCs constitute a minority cell type within the pulp, and no enrichment measures were employed beyond fibronectin adhesion. Although HADAN II and III exhibited different proportions of total gated cells, the quantity of quadruplicate positive cells remained comparable across the groups. The HADAN II's fibronectin-isolated group (FA) and non-fibronectin adherent (NA) counterparts demonstrated a negligible difference in the expression of MSC cell markers. Similarly, HADAN III displayed minimal disparities in MSC cell marker expressions between the FA group and the NA group. Hence, it does not seem that fibronectin significantly enhanced the proportion of cells positive for these four MSC cell surface markers. Similarly, the proportion of cells positive for any single MSC cell surface marker, despite variation between donors, was comparable across all populations.

This finding suggests that, while fibronectin influences the proliferation rate of MSCs, it does not significantly alter the expression of key MSC cell surface markers. It underscores the utility of fibronectin in enhancing the growth rate of MSCs without altering their stem cell characteristics, which is crucial for their identification and subsequent applications in regenerative medicine and tissue engineering. Despite the consistency in MSC cell surface markers across our selection and isolation processes, significant individual variations can still play a role in the proportions of mesenchymal progenitors. Various factors contribute to the individual variability of stem cells, with aging being well-established as a factor influencing both the quantity and quality of stem cells (Sloan & Smith, 2007; Raoof et al., 2014b). It is important to note that our study did not include controls for the age or health status of individual donors, due to the irretrievable anonymization of the donors, and these unaccounted-for variables have the potential to impact the biological and regenerative characteristics of DPSCs in any isolate.

It is important to note that HADAN II cells from the 4th passage and HADAN III cells from the 10th passage underwent immunophenotyping for MSC markers. It has been reported that the cells from different passages may influence the expression of MSC markers. A study by Ghaneialvar *et al.* on murine MSCs revealed that MSCs at passage 3 exhibited the highest expression of MSC markers (CD29+, CD44+, CD105+, CD106+, and Sca-1+) (Ng, Mak, Popp, & Ng, 2020). However, by passage 7, there was a reduction in MSC markers, indicating a potential loss of the stem cell population after prolonged culturing. While cells from different donors require different numbers of passages to reach the stage where they can be utilized in experiments, future studies should consider a consistent number of passages when immunotyping MSC markers. The potential volatility of MSC marker expression in culture presents a possible challenge in considering the use of these cells in regenerative medicine/dentistry, where multiple passages will be required to bring cells to usable numbers.

The quantification results of osteodifferentiation markers indicate that both the HADAN II fibronectin-adherent isolate and non-adherent isolates exhibited decreased SPP1 mRNA expression and increased BGLAP mRNA expression after 7 days of osteogenic differentiation media treatment. This implies reduced osteopontin (OPN) expression levels and heightened osteocalcin (OCN) expression levels in HADAN II. OPN is recognized as an early marker of

mineralization pathways, while OCN is acknowledged as a later marker in the osteogenic process (Zohar, Cheifetz, McCulloch, & Sodek, 1998) (Tsao et al., 2017). OPN is a multifunctional ECM protein reported to stimulate cell-cell adhesion, facilitate cell-ECM communication, and promote cell migration (Faccio et al., 1998) (Staniowski, Zawadzka-Knefel, & Skośkiewicz-Malinowska, 2021). The study by Zohar et al. demonstrated that OPN is associated with cell migration and is expressed early in mesenchymal cell differentiation (Zohar, Cheifetz, McCulloch, & Sodek, 1998). This can be attributed to its role in fulfilling the requirements during the early differentiation phase. It is also noted that that OPN can inhibit both growth and differentiation indicating that OPN is a potent negative regulator for the development of osteoblasts. Moreover, findings from the study by Huang et al. revealed that OPN negatively regulates preosteoblast development by impeding both proliferation and osteogenic differentiation. Elevated OPN expression led to decreases in the expression of osteocalcin and bone sialoproteins, while a decrease in OPN levels resulted in the opposite effect. (Huang, Weibiao et al., 2004). In vivo, during mandibular bone healing in rats, it has also been demonstrated that OPN is expressed early in healing, subsequently diminishing as bone healing progresses and OC expression increases (Colombo et al., 2011). Based on this information, the observed results in the HADAN II control/treatment group, indicating decreased expression of OPN and increased expression of OCN, suggest that HADAN II is in the later stages of osteoblast differentiation after 7 days in the osteogenic medium.

Both isolates yielded consistent results, given that they are dental pulp progenitor cells from the same donors. However, the osteocalcin markers in fibronectin-adherent isolates exhibited an 800% increase, whereas there was only a 50% increase in non-fibronectin-adherent cells when exposed to osteoinductive differentiating media. This suggests that the fibronectin isolated dental pulp progenitor cells in HADAN II underwent a more substantial degree of differentiation compared to their NA counterparts.

Both the HADAN III fibronectin isolated populations and NA isolates displayed elevated SPP1 mRNA expression and no significant difference in BGLAP mRNA expression after 7 days of osteogenic differentiation media treatment. This suggests that HADAN III isolates were in the early stages of differentiation at the 7-day treatment mark. While both isolates produced consistent results, the fibronectin-adherent isolate exhibited a 164% increase compared to the untreated control, whereas the non-fibronectin isolate showed an 86% increase. Taken together these findings suggest that fibronectin selection yielded a population of cells with a somewhat greater capacity for osteodifferentiation, despite potential donor variation in the rate at which differentiation occurs.

In the process of osteogenic differentiation in BM-MSCs, Runx2 is considered a crucial osteogenic transcription factor and serves as an early osteogenic differentiation marker (Xu, Li, Hou, & Fang, 2015). Nevertheless, our findings revealed no discernible differences in the expression of RUNX2, across both types of isolates and donors, except in the case of HADAN III explant, which showed 35% increased expression in Osteo treatment group.

The data suggests that DPSCs in HADAN III may be less differentiated than those in HADAN II after 7 days of incubation in the osteogenic medium. Notably, HADAN II cells from the 4th passage and HADAN III cells from the 10th passage underwent differentiation. This observation aligns with previous studies indicating that pre-osteoblastic cells at higher passage numbers exhibit weakened osteogenic capacity and elevated OPN mRNA expression (Huang, Weibiao et al., 2004). Huang *et al.* also proposed that the capability of progenitor cells to

proliferate and differentiate significantly diminishes after a finite period. It is plausible that HADAN III cells, possibly owing to their later passages, exhibited not only diminished osteogenic capacity but also a reduction in MSC markers. According to the literature, the optimal time to study osteogenic capacity and express the most MSC cell surface markers, or exhibit a more stem cell-like state, is during passages 4-5. A study by Bilic *et al.* revealed that in passages 0 and 1, MSCs exhibited weak and insignificant osteogenic differentiation, while by passage 5, MSCs displayed notable osteogenic capacity *in vivo* (Bilic, Zeisberger, Mallik, Zimmermann, & Zisch, 2008; Diao, Ma, Cui, & Zhong, 2009).

Distinct variations in osteogenic potentials were apparent between fibronectin-isolated and non-adherent counterparts, even among cells exhibiting a similar MSC phenotype. The fibronectin selection demonstrated differences in the expression of molecular markers without corresponding changes in cellular markers. This highlights the intrinsic heterogeneity within subpopulations of DPSCs, which are remarkably diverse. The reliance solely on phenotypic markers may prove insufficient for effectively distinguishing subpopulations with varying osteogenic capacities.

To facilitate more direct comparisons between donors, it would be critical to replicate this experiment using identical passages for diverse donors. Alternatively, repeating the experiment with cells from a single donor at various passages would serve to validate the findings to some extent, although the individual variations seen here call into question our ability to assume that isolates from one donor would behave like isolates from another. We have observed potential donor variations in proliferation capacity, the rate at which differentiation occurs, and the osteogenic potential. Therefore, a significant challenge in this study is the inherent individual variations present in DPSCs from different donors. These traits pose a significant obstacle to the translational development of human DPSC-based therapies for clinical applications.

Chapter 5: Conclusion

While all isolates of dental pulp progenitor cells displayed similar proportions of mesenchymal stem cell markers, those selected through fibronectin exhibited an accelerated division rate and demonstrated potentially enhanced osteogenic potential across different donors. Our findings support fibronectin as a valuable selection tool capable of promoting MSC expansion and increased differentiation potential without compromising their stem cell characteristic. The use of fibronectin selection revealed changes in the expression of molecular markers without concurrent alterations in cellular markers. This emphasizes the inherent diversity within subpopulations of DPSCs. Relying solely on phenotypic markers may fall short of accurately distinguishing subpopulations with different osteogenic capacities. Nevertheless, it is essential to recognize the substantial individual variations in mesenchymal progenitor proportions, phenotype, and behavior. In addition, the inherent heterogeneity of human dental pulp stem cells (hDPSCs) presents a barrier to discerning the quality of stem cells solely through the examination of a single cellular marker. This challenge complicates the effective characterization and study of DPSCs. As a result, understanding these complex biological genotypes and phenotypes becomes imperative for future research endeavors. Emphasizing the need for control over variations is crucial when identifying markers that consistently and specifically delineate superior subtypes of DPSCs within mixed populations.

Appendix

Institutional Review Board Approval Notice



DATE: June 30, 2022

TO: John Colombo FROM: Biomedical

PROTOCOL TITLE: UNLV-2022-28 Isolation of Dental Pulp Progenitor Cells From Extracted Human Teeth SUBMISSION TYPE: Initial

ACTION: Approved APPROVAL DATE: June 30, 2022 EXPIRATION DATE: June 29, 2023 REVIEW TYPE: FULL COMMITTEE REVIEW

Thank you for submission of materials for this proposal. The Biomedical IRB has approved your study. This approval is based on an appropriate risk/benefit ratio and a study design wherein the risks have been minimized. All research must be conducted in accordance with this approved submission. Only copies of the most recently submitted materials may be used.

Waiver of Informed Consent has been approved for this study.

PLEASE NOTE:

1. An online Initial Submission form will need to be submitted for any future research using the stored data that is different from the current proposal.

Should there be any change to the study, it will be necessary to submit a Modification for review. No changes may be made to the existing study until modifications have been approved/acknowledged

All unanticipated problems involving risk to subjects or others, and/or serious and unexpected adverse events must be reported promptly to this office. All FDA and sponsor reporting requirements must also be followed where applicable.

Any non-compliance issues or complaints regarding this protocol must be reported promptly to this office.

All approvals from appropriate UNLV offices regarding this research must be obtained prior to initiation of this study (e.g., IBC, COI, Export Control, OSP, Radiation Safety, Clinical Trials Office, etc.).

If you have questions, please contact the Office of Research Integrity - Human Subjects at IRB@univ.edu or call 702-895-2784. Please include your study title and study ID in all correspondence



DATE: June 21, 2023

TO: John Colombo FROM: Biomedical

PROTOCOL TITLE: UNLV-2022-28 Isolation of Dental Pulp Progenitor Cells From Extracted Human Teeth SUBMISSION TYPE: Renewal

ACTION: Approved APPROVAL DATE: June 20, 2023 NEXT REPORT DUE: December 31, 2999 REVIEW TYPE: EXPEDITED REVIEW

Thank you for submission of renewalcontinuing review/progress report materials for this protocol. The Biomedical IRB has APPROVED your submission. This approval is based on an appropriate risk/benefit ratio and a protocol design wherein the risks have been minimized. All research must be conducted in accordance with this approved submission.

PLEASE NOTE:

1. Approved under Expedited Category 9, "Continuing review of research, not conducted under an investigational new drug application or investigational device exemption where categories two (2) through eight (8) do not apply but the IRB has determined and documented at a convened meeting that the research involves no greater than minimal risk and no additional risks have been identified."

Only copies of the most recently submitted and approved/acknowledged Informed Consent materials may be used when obtaining consent.

Should there be any change to the protocol, it will be necessary to submit a Modification for review. No changes may be made to the existing protocol until modifications have been approved/acknowledged.

All unanticipated problems involving risk to subjects or others, and/or serious and unexpected adverse events must be reported promptly to this office. Please use the appropriate reporting forms for this procedure. All FDA and sponsor reporting requirements must also be followed where applicable.

Any non-compliance issues or complaints regarding this protocol must be reported promptly to this office.

This study is still determined to be minimal risk.

Please remember that all approvals regarding this research must be sought prior to initiation of this study (e.g., IBC, COI, Export Control, OSP, Radiation Safety, Clinical Trials Office, etc.).

If you have questions, please contact the Office of Research Integrity - Human Subjects at IRB@univ.edu or call 702-895-2794. Please include your protocol title and protocol ID in all correspondence.

References

- Al Madhoun, A., Sindhu, S., Haddad, D., Atari, M., Ahmad, R., & Al-Mulla, F. (2021). Dental pulp stem cells derived from adult human third molar tooth: A brief review. *Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology*, 9, 717624. doi:10.3389/fcell.2021.717624
- Amit, M., Carpenter, M. K., Inokuma, M. S., Chiu, C., Harris, C. P., Waknitz, M. A., et al. (2000). Clonally derived human embryonic stem cell lines maintain pluripotency and proliferative potential for prolonged periods of culture Elsevier BV. doi:10.1006/dbio.2000.9912
- Bakopoulou, A., Leyhausen, G., Volk, J., Tsiftsoglou, A., Garefis, P., Koidis, P., et al. (2011).
 Comparative analysis of in vitro osteo/odontogenic differentiation potential of human dental pulp stem cells (DPSCs) and stem cells from the apical papilla (SCAP). *Archives of Oral Biology*, *56*(7), 709-721. doi:10.1016/j.archoralbio.2010.12.008
- Bilic, G., Zeisberger, S. M., Mallik, A. S., Zimmermann, R., & Zisch, A. H. (2008). Comparative characterization of cultured human term amnion epithelial and mesenchymal stromal cells for application in cell therapy. *Cell Transplantation*, *17*(8), 955-968.
 doi:10.3727/096368908786576507
- Bronckaers, A., Hilkens, P., Fanton, Y., Struys, T., Gervois, P., Politis, C., et al. (2013).
 Angiogenic properties of human dental pulp stem cells. *PLoS ONE*, 8(8), e71104.
 doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0071104

- Chen, A. K., Reuveny, S., & Oh, S. K. W. (2013). Application of human mesenchymal and pluripotent stem cell microcarrier cultures in cellular therapy: Achievements and future direction. *Biotechnology Advances*, 31(7), 1032-1046. doi:10.1016/j.biotechadv.2013.03.006
- Colombo, J. S., Balani, D., Sloan, A. J., Crean, S. J., Okazaki, J., & Waddington, R. J. (2011).
 Delayed osteoblast differentiation and altered inflammatory response around implants placed in incisor sockets of type 2 diabetic rats. *Clinical Oral Implants Research*, 22(6), 578-586. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0501.2010.01992.x
- Diao, Y., Ma, Q., Cui, F., & Zhong, Y. (2009). Human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells:
 Osteogenesis in vivo as seed cells for bone tissue engineering. *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research Part A*, 91A(1), 123-131. doi:10.1002/jbm.a.32186
- D'Ippolito, G., Diabira, S., Howard, G. A., Menei, P., Roos, B. A., & Schiller, P. C. (2004).
 Marrow-isolated adult multilineage inducible (MIAMI) cells, a unique population of postnatal young and old human cells with extensive expansion and differentiation potential. *Journal of Cell Science*, *117*(Pt 14), 2971-2981. doi:10.1242/jcs.01103
- Faccio, R., Grano, M., Colucci, S., Zallone, A. Z., Quaranta, V., & Pelletier, A. J. (1998).
 Activation of αvβ3Integrin on human osteoclast-like cells stimulates adhesion and migration in response to osteopontin. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications, 249*(2), 522-525. doi:10.1006/bbrc.1998.9180

- Friedenstein, A. J., Latzinik, N. W., Grosheva, A. G., & Gorskaya, U. F. (1982). Marrow microenvironment transfer by heterotopic transplantation of freshly isolated and cultured cells in porous sponges. *Experimental Hematology*, 10(2), 217-227.
- Greenwood, S. K., Hill, R. B., Sun, J. T., Armstrong, M. J., Johnson, T. E., Gara, J. P., et al. (2004). Population doubling: A simple and more accurate estimation of cell growth suppression in the in vitro assay for chromosomal aberrations that reduces irrelevant positive results. *Environmental and Molecular Mutagenesis*, 43(1), 36-44. doi:10.1002/em.10207
- Gronthos, S., Mankani, M., Brahim, J., Robey, P. G., & Shi, S. (2000). Postnatal human dental pulp stem cells (DPSCs) in vitro and in vivo. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 97(25), 13625-13630. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC17626/
- Huang, G. T. -., Gronthos, S., & Shi, S. (2009). Mesenchymal stem cells derived from dental tissues vs. those from other sources: Their biology and role in regenerative medicine. *Journal of Dental Research*, 88(9), 792-806. doi:10.1177/0022034509340867
- Huang, G. T. -., Sonoyama, W., Chen, J., & Park, S. H. (2006). In vitro characterization of human dental pulp cells: Various isolation methods and culturing environments. *Cell and Tissue Research*, 324(2), 225-236. doi:10.1007/s00441-005-0117-9

- Huang, W., Carlsen, B., Rudkin, G., Berry, M., Ishida, K., Yamaguchi, D. T., et al. (2004).
 Osteopontin is a negative regulator of proliferation and differentiation in MC3T3-E1 preosteoblastic cells. *Bone, 34*(5), 799-808. doi:10.1016/j.bone.2003.11.027
- Jaiswal, N., Haynesworth, S. E., Caplan, A. I., & Bruder, S. P. (1997). Osteogenic differentiation of purified, culture-expanded human mesenchymal stem cells in vitro. *Journal of Cellular Biochemistry*, 64(2), 295-312.
- Jones, P. H., & Watt, F. M. (1993). Separation of human epidermal stem cells from transit amplifying cells on the basis of differences in integrin function and expression. *Cell*, *73*(4), 713-724. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(93)90251-k
- Kim, W., Shin, H., Kim, B., Kim, H., & Ryoo, H. (2020). RUNX2-modifying enzymes: Therapeutic targets for bone diseases Springer Science and Business Media LLC. doi:10.1038/s12276-020-0471-4
- Kok, Z. Y., Alaidaroos, N. Y. A., Alraies, A., Colombo, J. S., Davies, L. C., Waddington, R. J., et al. (2022). Dental pulp stem cell heterogeneity: Finding superior quality "Needles" in a dental pulpal "Haystack" for regenerative medicine-based applications. *Stem Cells International, 2022*, 9127074-20. doi:10.1155/2022/9127074
- Korpershoek, J. V., Rikkers, M., de Windt, T. S., Tryfonidou, M. A., Saris, D. B. F., & Vonk, L. A. (2021). Selection of highly proliferative and multipotent meniscus progenitors through differential adhesion to fibronectin: A novel approach in meniscus tissue engineering. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 22(16), 8614. doi: 10.3390/ijms22168614. doi:10.3390/ijms22168614

- Liu, Y., Zhou, Z., & Liu, F. (2016). Transcriptome changes during TNF-α promoted osteogenic differentiation of dental pulp stem cells (DPSCs). *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 476(4), 426-430. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2016.05.137
- Miyauchi, A., Alvarez, J., Greenfield, E. M., Teti, A., Grano, M., Colucci, S., et al. (1991).
 Recognition of osteopontin and related peptides by an alpha v beta 3 integrin stimulates immediate cell signals in osteoclasts. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 266(30), 20369-20374. doi:10.1016/S0021-9258(18)54932-2
- Nakamura, A., Dohi, Y., Akahane, M., Ohgushi, H., Nakajima, H., Funaoka, H., et al. (2009).
 Osteocalcin secretion as an early marker of in vitro osteogenic differentiation of rat mesenchymal stem cells. *Tissue Engineering.Part C, Methods*, *15*(2), 169-180.
 doi:10.1089/ten.tec.2007.0334
- Ng, T. T., Mak, K. H., Popp, C., & Ng, R. K. (2020). Murine mesenchymal stromal cells retain biased differentiation plasticity towards their tissue of origin. *Cells*, 9(3), 756. doi: 10.3390/cells9030756. doi:10.3390/cells9030756
- Oh, S. K. W., & Choo, A. B. H. (2011). 1.25 stem cells. In M. Moo-Young (Ed.), *Comprehensive biotechnology (second edition)* (pp. 341-365). Burlington: Academic Press. doi:10.1016/B978-0-08-088504-9.00038-6
- Raoof, M., Yaghoobi, M. M., Derakhshani, A., Kamal-abadi, A. M., Ebrahimi, B., Abbasnejad, M., et al. (2014a). A modified efficient method for dental pulp stem cell isolation. *Dental Research Journal*, *11*(2), 244-250. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4052652/

- Raoof, M., Yaghoobi, M. M., Derakhshani, A., Kamal-abadi, A. M., Ebrahimi, B., Abbasnejad, M., et al. (2014b). A modified efficient method for dental pulp stem cell isolation. *Dental Research Journal*, *11*(2), 244-250. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4052652/
- Rodas-Junco, B. A., & Villicaña, C. (2017). Dental pulp stem cells: Current advances in isolation, expansion and preservation. *Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine*, 14(4), 333-347. doi:10.1007/s13770-017-0036-3
- Rola Mortada, I. M., Mortada, I., Mortada Beirut, Á R., & Lebanon. (2018a). Dental pulp stem cells and osteogenesis: An update doi:10.1007/s10616-018-0225-5(
- Rola Mortada, I. M., Mortada, I., Mortada Beirut, Á R., & Lebanon. (2018b). *Dental pulp stem cells and osteogenesis: An update* doi:10.1007/s10616-018-0225-5(
- Saygin, N. E., Giannobile, W. V., & Somerman, M. J. (2000). Molecular and cell biology of cementum. *Periodontology 2000, 24*, 73-98. doi:10.1034/j.1600-0757.2000.2240105.x
- Shi, S., Robey, P. G., & Gronthos, S. (2001). Comparison of human dental pulp and bone marrow stromal stem cells by cDNA microarray analysis. *Bone, 29*(6), 532-539. doi:10.1016/S8756-3282(01)00612-3
- Staniowski, T., Zawadzka-Knefel, A., & Skośkiewicz-Malinowska, K. (2021). Therapeutic potential of dental pulp stem cells according to different transplant types. *Molecules*, 26(24), 7423. doi:10.3390/molecules26247423

- Sui, B., Wu, D., Xiang, L., Fu, Y., Kou, X., & Shi, S. (2020). Dental pulp stem cells: From discovery to clinical application. *Journal of Endodontics*, 46(9S), S46-S55. doi:10.1016/j.joen.2020.06.027
- Sun, H., Wu, C., Dai, K., Chang, J., & Tang, T. (2006). Proliferation and osteoblastic differentiation of human bone marrow-derived stromal cells on akermanite-bioactive ceramics. *Biomaterials*, 27(33), 5651-5657. doi:10.1016/j.biomaterials.2006.07.027
- Tsao, Y., Huang, Y., Wu, H., Liu, Y., Liu, Y., & Lee, O. K. (2017). Osteocalcin mediates biomineralization during osteogenic maturation in human mesenchymal stromal cells. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 18(1), 159. doi: 10.3390/ijms18010159. doi:10.3390/ijms18010159
- Tziafas, D., Panagiotakopoulos, N., & Komnenou, A. (1995). Immunolocalization of fibronectin during the early response of dog dental pulp to demineralized dentine or calcium hydroxidecontaining cement. *Archives of Oral Biology*, 40(1), 23-31. doi:10.1016/0003-9969(94)00148-5
- Williams, R., Khan, I. M., Richardson, K., Nelson, L., McCarthy, H. E., Analbelsi, T., et al. (2010). Identification and clonal characterisation of a progenitor cell sub-population in normal human articular cartilage. *PloS One*, *5*(10), e13246.
 doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0013246
- Xu, J., Li, Z., Hou, Y., & Fang, W. (2015). Potential mechanisms underlying the Runx2 induced osteogenesis of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells. *American Journal of Translational Research*, 7(12), 2527-2535.

- Xuan, K., Li, B., Guo, H., Sun, W., Kou, X., He, X., et al. (2018). Deciduous autologous tooth stem cells regenerate dental pulp after implantation into injured teeth. *Science Translational Medicine*, 10(455), eaaf3227. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.aaf3227
- Yamada, Y., Nakamura, S., Ito, K., Sugito, T., Yoshimi, R., Nagasaka, T., et al. (2010). A feasibility of useful cell-based therapy by bone regeneration with deciduous tooth stem cells, dental pulp stem cells, or bone-marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells for clinical study using tissue engineering technology. *Tissue Engineering. Part A*, *16*(6), 1891-1900. doi:10.1089/ten.TEA.2009.0732
- Yoshiba, K., Yoshiba, N., Nakamura, H., Iwaku, M., & Ozawa, H. (1996). Immunolocalization of fibronectin during reparative dentinogenesis in human teeth after pulp capping with calcium hydroxide. *Journal of Dental Research*, 75(8), 1590-1597. doi:10.1177/00220345960750081101
- Zakrzewski, W., Dobrzyński, M., Szymonowicz, M., & Rybak, Z. (2019). Stem cells: Past, present, and future. *Stem Cell Research & Therapy, 10*(1), 68. doi:10.1186/s13287-019-1165-5
- Zhu, Q., Safavi, K. E., & Spangberg, L. S. (1998). The role of integrin beta 1 in human dental pulp cell adhesion on laminin and fibronectin. *Oral Surgery, Oral Medicine, Oral Pathology, Oral Radiology, and Endodontics, 85*(3), 314-318. doi:10.1016/s1079-2104(98)90015-4
- Zohar, R., Cheifetz, S., McCulloch, C. A., & Sodek, J. (1998). Analysis of intracellular osteopontin as a marker of osteoblastic cell differentiation and mesenchymal cell migration.

European Journal of Oral Sciences, 106 Suppl 1, 401-407. doi:10.1111/j.1600-

0722.1998.tb02206.x

Curriculum Vitae

Graduate College University of Nevada, Las Vegas Heoijin Kim D.D.S. hjkim27@gmail.com

EDUCATION:

UNLV School of Dental Medicine Las Vegas, NV Certificate in Orthodontics and Master of Science in C	July, 2021- April 2024 Dral Biology
New York University, College of Dentistry New York, NY Doctor of Dental Surgery	August 2017- May 2021
Georgetown University Washington, DC Masters of Physiology & Biophysics	June2014- July 2015
Cornell University, College of Human Ecology Ithaca, NY Bachelor of Science Major: Human Biology, Health, and Society	July 2008- January 2023
PROFESSIONAL APPOINTMENT:	

UNLV School of Dental Medicine Part-Time Instructor for Clinical Sciences October, 2023- April 2024

PUBLICATION:

Effects of relative centrifugation force on L-PRF: An in vivo submandibular boney defect regeneration study. Tovar N, Benalcázar Jalkh EB, Ramalho IS, Rodriguez Colon R, Kim H, Bonfante EA, Torroni A, Coelho PG, Witek J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater. 2021 Dec;109(12):2237-2245. doi: 10.1002/jbm.b.34885. Epub 2021 Jun 3. PMID: 34080775.

Bone regeneration at extraction sockets filled with leukocyte-platelet-rich fibrin: An experimental pre-clinical study. Park, G, Jalkh, EBB, Boczar, D, Bergamo, ETP, Kim, H, Kurgansky, G, Torroni, A, Gil, LF, Bonfante, EA, Coelho, PG & Witek, L. Medicina Oral, Patologia Oral y Cirugia Bucal. 2022 Sep;27(5):e468-e475. DOI: 10.4317/medoral.25462. PMID: 35975804; PMCID: PMC9445612.

PROFESSIONAL MEMBERSHIP:

American Association of Orthodontists Pacific Coast Society of Orthodontist American Dental Association NYUCD Omicron Kappa Upsilon National Honor Society